Behavioural response of adult sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus) to predator and

conspecific alarm cues: evidence of additive effects

Richard T. Di Rocco

A thesis in

The Department of

Biology

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of Master of Science at

Concordia University

Montreal, Quebec, Canada

January 2015

CONCORDIA UNIVERSITY

SCHOOL OF GRADUATE STUDIES

This is to certify that the thesis prepared

By: Richard T. Di Rocco

Entitled: Behavioural response of adult sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*) to predator and conspecific alarm cues: evidence of additive effects

and submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science (Biology)

complies with the regulations of the University and meets the accepted standards with respect to originality and quality.

Signed by the final examining committee:

Approved

Date:

	Chair
Dr. D. Fraser	
	Examiner
Dr. J. Grant	
	Examiner
Dr. JP. Lessard	
	External Supervisor
Dr. I. Imre	
	Supervisor
Dr. G. Brown	
Dr. S. Dayanandan, Graduate Program Dir	rector
Dean of Faculty	

Abstract

Behavioural response of adult sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*) to predator and conspecific alarm cues: evidence of additive effects

Richard T. Di Rocco

Sea lampreys (Petromvzon marinus), an invasive pest in the Upper Great Lakes, avoid odours that represent danger in their habitat. These odours include damage-released alarm cues from conspecifics and predator cues, like 2-phenylethylamine hydrochloride (PEA HCl), a promising predator cue found in the urine of mammalian predators. The objectives of this experimental study were: (1) determine if the avoidance response of sea lamprey to PEA HCl is graded or hypersensitive, (2) determine if the avoidance response to the combination of a predator cue (PEA HCl) and damage-released alarm cue is synergistic or additive. To meet the first objective, groups of ten sea lampreys were placed in an artificial stream channel and presented with stepwise concentrations of PEA HCl ranging from 5×10^{-8} to 5×10^{-10} M and a deionized water control. Sea lampreys exhibited graded avoidance behaviour in response to PEA HCl. To meet the second objective, sea lampreys were exposed to PEA HCl, conspecific damage-released alarm cue, and a combination of the two. Sea lamprey responded to the combination of predator cue and damage-released alarm cue in an additive manner, as the response to the combination of cues did not trigger a significantly greater response than the sum of their separate effects.

Acknowledgements

This research would not have been possible without the guidance and support of my advisors: Dr. István Imre and Dr. Grant Brown. I would also like to thank my committee member Dr. James Grant. Our collaborator, Dr. Nicholas Johnson, at the Hammond Bay Biological helped coordinate the experiments and provided valuable advice.

I would like to thank Dr. Michael Hansen and the employees of the Hammond Bay Biological Station for their assistance. I would like to specifically thank Dr. Andrea Miehls for loaning us precious St. Marys sea lampreys to complete this experiment, Erick Larson for his assistance in configuring and maintaining our holding tanks, and Karen Slaght for help in the laboratory. I'd also like to thank Scott Miehls and Gale Bravener for coordinating the delivery of experimental subjects. Finally, I would like to thank Haley McClure and Ethan Jordbro for their hard work in the stream channels and analyzing videos. The Great Lakes Fishery Commission provided funding for this research. Concordia International generously provided financial assistance while I conducted this research abroad.

Table of Contents

List of Figures
List of Tables
Introduction1
Risk assessment in aquatic habitats
Sea lamprey as an invasive pest
Chemosensory cues as a repellent
Materials and methods
Experimental subjects
Stimulus preparation
Experimental protocol
Data collection and statistical analysis
Results
PEA HCl concentration experiment:
Synergy experiment:
Discussion
Future work
References

List of Figures

Figure 1. View from above a laboratory stream channel	. 19
Figure 2. Proportion of sea lampreys on the scented side of the laboratory channel during the	
PEA HCl concentration experiment	. 21
Figure 3. Proportion of sea lampreys on the scented side of the laboratory channel during the	
synergy experiment	. 23
Figure 4. Proposed field test to determine if chemosensory cues can block adult sea lampreys	
from entering spawning streams	. 25

List of Tables

Table 1.	Amount of chemosensory	cue used in each treatment	
----------	------------------------	----------------------------	--

Introduction

Invasive species are non-indigenous species that arrive in a new habitat and cause severe environmental damage (Mack et al. 2000). Few non-indigenous species are able to naturalize in a new habitat (Jeschke and Strayer 2005) and fewer still have negative impacts for indigenous species (Mack et al. 2000). One of the main goals of invasion ecology is to predict which species have the potential to become invasive but so far, invasion ecology has failed to reliably make these predictions (Williamson 1999). The field of animal behaviour could help predict how invasive species spread and compete in novel environments and aid in control efforts (Holway & Suarez 1999). Recent studies, for example, investigating the behaviour of invasive species have found them to be more flexible (Sol et al. 2002) and more aggressive (Duckworth and Budyaev 2007) than native competitors.

The behavioural interactions between invaders and novel habitats, which may contain new prey, predators, parasites and/or abiotic conditions (Sakai et al. 2001), are a key factor in the success of an invader. It may be possible to exploit the behaviour of an invasive species to manage the population but it is important to consider that the behaviour of the invaders may be different than the population they have dispersed from. In general, there are two ways an invasive species could access a new habitat: 1) random dispersal; by chance, a random group of individuals from one habitat arrive in a new habitat (e.g. zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*) released with the ballast water of ships) and 2) non-random dispersal; given the opportunity to access new habitat, a non-random group of individuals moves into another habitat. In random dispersal, the success of the invader is largely based on chance because the individuals that are transferred may not be suitable for the new habitat. Therefore, increasing the number of dispersal events, dispersal sources, and number of individuals transferred will increase the likelihood of

the non-indigenous species becoming established in a new habitat (Saikai et al. 2001). In nonrandom dispersal, the individuals may differ phenotypically (e.g. naked mole-rat, Heterocephalus glaber, O'Riain et al. 1996), genetically (e.g. pygmy grasshopper, Tetrix subulata, Berggren et al. 2012) or behaviourally (e.g. Trinidadian killifish, Anablepsoides hartii, Fraser et al. 2001) from individuals in their source population. This difference between dispersers and their source population partially explains why they sometimes become invasive. For example, dispersal is coupled with ecological relevant personality (i.e. risk-taking) traits, such as boldness, aggressiveness and high activity (Sih et al. 2004). These correlated traits exhibited at the population or species level are referred to as behavioural syndromes (Sih et al. 2004). The behavioural syndromes that are more likely to lead to dispersal are also more likely to negatively impact invaded communities (Sih et al. 2004). Since colonization of a new habitat can result in a population bottleneck (Sakai et al. 2001), there is often less genetic diversity in new populations as compared to the same species in an older population (Barrett & Kohn, 1991). So, invasive species may have fewer behavioural types than the indigenous populations they are competing with, potentially amplifying the negative impacts of invasive species.

Risk assessment in aquatic habitats

Aquatic vertebrate and invertebrate species rely on a variety of sensory inputs to assess local predation threats. In particular, prey fishes commonly utilize a combination of visual, chemical, auditory, electric and tactile information as sources of risk assessment information (Emde et al. 2004). Fishes will exhibit antipredator behaviour, such as crypsis, area avoidance and (or) movement to shelter in response to information indicating a predator or predation event nearby (Smith 1992). Aquatic environments are abundant in chemical information, which describe surrounding biological interactions (Wisenden and Chivers 2006). This chemical information is publicly available (Wisenden and Chivers 2006), persists in aquatic environments longer than other sources of information (Wisenden 2003), is low risk to acquire (Brown 2003), and reliably indicates nearby predators (Kats and Dill 1998). As a result, chemical information is the dominant form of communication in aquatic environments (Ferrari et al. 2010). Chemical information can originate from a variety of sources but the first discovered was conspecific tissue extract by von Frisch in 1938 (Magurran et al. 1996). These conspecific tissue extracts, or damage-released alarm cues, are released into the environment when a predator injures prey. The strong selection pressure to detect cues that indicate local predation threats has led to virtually all aquatic animals responding independent of previous experience to conspecific alarm cue with antipredator behaviour (Wisenden and Chivers 2006). Another type of chemosensory cue are predator cues or kairomones, the natural odours released by predators (Wisenden and Chivers 2006). These predator cues are arguably the most widespread chemosensory cue in predator-prey interactions (Wisenden 2003) as they are available even if no recent predation events have occurred. Prey have evolved to detect a predator prior to a predation event by recognizing the natural odours released by predators innately (Dixson et al 2010). A third type of chemosensory cue are disturbance cues. These cues are released by prey when disturbed (not injured), which warns conspecifics of nearby danger (Chivers et al. 2012).

Although the antipredator response to chemosensory cues will reduce the risk of an individual being preyed upon, the behaviour also consumes time and energy (Brown et al. 2011) and may cause non-consumptive effects on prey such as reduced foraging, lower mating success or emigration (Preisser et al. 2005). The threat-sensitive predator avoidance hypothesis (Helfman 1989) expects prey to match the degree of antipredator behaviour to the level of risk detected. A common criticism of risk-assessment research is that much of the experiments occur in the

laboratory (Magurran et al. 1996) where there is relatively little sensory information available. Recent research has investigated the effect of multiple cues and has mostly focused on multiple modalities of cues, such as a visual cue paired with a chemical cue (Brown and Magnavacca 2003, McCormick and Manassa 2008, Ward and Mehner 2010, Holmes and McCormick 2011). Notably, Mikheev et al. (2006) found that a predator odour alone did not affect the feeding rate of European perch (Perca fluviatilis) but a combination of predator odour with a visual predator cue caused a significantly stronger effect than the visual cue alone. To our knowledge, only Ferrari et al. (2008) has paired two odours, a disturbance cue with a damage-released alarm cue, to determine how prey would interpret the combinative effect of these supporting cues and found the combination to have an additive effect. In a scenario where only a damage-released alarm cue is present, no information about a predator has been transmitted. If only a predator cue is present, a potential predator is in the area but may not be consuming conspecifics of the detector for a variety of potential reasons, such as gap limitation or state of satiation. The combination of predator cue and alarm cue can have a much larger impact on antipredator defences than either cue alone (Schoeppner and Relyea 2005) as the increase in chemical information reduces uncertainty about the environment. In some species of snail, for example, both a predator cue and damage-released alarm cues are required to cause any avoidance behaviour (Alexander and Covich 1991, Jacobsen and Stabell 2004).

Sea lamprey as an invasive pest

In Canada, costs associated with invasive species are estimated to be between \$13.3 and 34.5 billion CDN per year (Colautii et al. 2004). Approximately \$22 million is spent on management and research to control sea lampreys (Colautii et al. 2004), an invasive species in the Great Lakes Basin (Smith and Tibbles 1980). It is assumed that sea lampreys, indigenous to

Lake Ontario (Waldman et al. 2004, Bryan et al. 2005), were able to bypass the natural barrier of the Niagara Escarpment using the Welland Canal (Daniels 2001). A sea lamprey was found in Lake Erie in 1921 (Dymond 1922) and eventually spread throughout the Upper Great Lakes. Historically, sea lampreys in Lake Ontario were referred to as lake lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus unicolor*; Dymond 1922). These 'lake lamprey', which occupy freshwater habitats their entire life, differ phenotypically from the marine sea lamprey as the adults are approximately half the size (Applegate 1950). In addition, the invasive sea lampreys of Lake Superior have a reduced number of haplotypes when compared with the Lake Ontario population indicating there was a genetic bottleneck caused by dispersal through the Welland Canal (Waldman et al. 2004). As a result, the invasive sea lamprey population of the Upper Great Lakes is genetically, phenotypically and potentially behaviourally unique. The population bottlenecks that occurred as a result of the non-random dispersal of this invasive species may have resulted in a population with fewer behavioural types. This possible lack of behavioural diversity in sea lampreys makes them suitable for exploitation.

The Great Lakes Fishery Commission (GLFC), a binational group charged with eradicating or minimizing sea lamprey populations in the Great Lakes, relies heavily on lampricide treatments to minimize sea lamprey populations (Brege et al. 2003). In addition to lampricide, the GLFC uses physical barriers to deny migratory-phase sea lampreys access to spawning habitat but these barriers are controversial because they may impede non-target fishes (McLaughlin et al. 2007). The GLFC has actively been searching for alternatives to lampricides to reduce the cost of the sea lamprey control program (Great Lakes Fishery Commission 2011). One strategy the GLFC has committed to research is the use of repellent-based control methods. Repellents could be used to create a virtual barrier, which would restrict access to spawning

grounds during the spring migration (Imre et al. 2010) while ideally allowing passage for nontarget species.

Chemosensory cues as a repellent

A novel method proposed to control invasive sea lamprey suggested the use of chemosensory cues to act as a repellent to manipulate the movements of migratory-phase sea lampreys (Sorensen and Hanson 1993, Imre et al. 2010). Chemosensory cues are particularly useful for nocturnal animals (Kats and Dill 1998), like sea lamprey. Recent studies have shown that sea lampreys avoid areas containing chemosensory cues that indicate danger in their habitat when in darkness (Wagner et al. 2011, Bals and Wagner 2012, Imre et al. 2014) and even when visual information is available during the day (Di Rocco et al. 2014). A new management plan could pair these chemosensory cues with reproductive pheromones, which attract sea lampreys (Johnson et al. 2013), to implement a push-pull pest management strategy similar to those used to control some insect species (see Cook et al. 2007). Sea lampreys could be 'pushed' away from suitable spawning habitat by placing a virtual barrier of chemosensory cues and 'pulled' to an area containing unsuitable spawning habitat, traps, or future lampricide treatments using reproductive pheromones.

In semi-natural laboratory conditions, adult sea lampreys avoid the damage-released alarm cues of adult conspecifics (Wagner et al. 2011, Bals and Wagner 2012, Imre et al. 2014) and sea lamprey ammocoetes (Pietrzakowski et al. 2013). Sea lampreys also avoid the predator cues 2-phenylethylamine (PEA), a compound found in mammalian carnivore urine (Ferrero et al. 2011), and human saliva (surrogate for saliva of a mammalian predator) (Imre et al. 2014, Di Rocco et al. 2014). PEA is a chemosensory cue avoided by rats and mice (Ferrero et al. 2011) and the stable hydrochloride salt (PEA HCl) shows promise as a potential control method for invasive sea lampreys as it is a readily available pure substance.

The synergistic effect of multiple cues demonstrated in Mikheev et al. (2006) could reduce the cost of implementing chemosensory cues into a management strategy to control invasive sea lamprey. Unfortunately, sea lampreys are primarily nocturnal during their migration and do not rely on their sense of vision (Binder and McDonald, 2007), making visual cues ineffective for this purpose. Sea lampreys avoid two types of chemosensory cues, predator cues and alarm cues, alone and in combination (Imre et al. 2014). In this study, we explored the effects of combining a predator cue with an alarm cue. Sea lampreys must avoid cues at an intensity related to the level of threat detected. This graded response (Brown et al. 2009) is required for comparison of cues. If sea lampreys are hypersensitive, meaning they exhibit a non-graded response (Helfman and Winkelman 1997), to one of the cues, it would be impossible to determine how the combination of cues function. Bals and Wagner (2012) found a correlation between mass of extracted tissue and sea lamprey avoidance indicating that their response to damage-released alarm cue is graded but whether the response to PEA HCl is graded or hypersensitive is currently unknown.

The goal of this study was to determine if the combination of predator cues and damagereleased alarm cues function synergistically or additively in sea lampreys. To accomplish this, we first conducted an experiment to determine if sea lampreys avoid a predator cue, PEA HCl, in a graded manner. In a second experiment, we exposed sea lamprey to PEA HCl, sea lamprey tissue extract and their combination ($\frac{1}{2}$ PEA HCl + $\frac{1}{2}$ sea lamprey tissue extract). If the combination of cues induces a significantly stronger response than both cues individually, the combination will function synergistically. Otherwise, the combination will function in an

additive manner, as the sum of the combined effect is not greater than the individual effects. We hypothesized sea lampreys will avoid PEA HCl in a graded manner, as predicted by the threat-sensitivity hypothesis. We also hypothesized the response to a combination of damage-released alarm cues and predator cues will synergize.

Materials and methods

Experimental subjects

The sea lampreys used in this experiment were captured from the St. Marys River by Fisheries and Oceans Canada in July 2014 and transported to the Hammond Bay Biological Station in Millersburg, MI. The lampreys were separated by sex and held in 1000 L flow-through tanks, which received 180 L of Lake Huron water per hour. To maintain the natural photoperiod of the subjects, the holding tanks were equipped with artificial lights on a timer set to a 15L:9D photoperiod with the lights turning off at 21:00 h. During the PEA HCl concentration gradient experiment, water temperature in the holding tanks was (mean \pm SD) 12.0 \pm 2.3 °C, the mean wet mass of subjects was 237 ± 48 g and their mean total length was 484 ± 33 mm. During the synergy experiment, the water temperature in the holding tanks was 11.9 ± 0.9 °C, the mean wet mass of subjects was 230 ± 45 g and the mean total length was 475 ± 33 mm. Sexual maturity was determined by applying gentle pressure to the abdomen. If an individual released sperm or eggs, they were classified as sexually mature (Siefkes et al., 2003). The weight, length and sexual maturity were measured after observations to reduce handling stress. Individuals were only exposed to a chemosensory cue once before being passed on for scientific communication purposes or further research.

Stimulus preparation

To determine if the response to 2-phenylethylamine hydrochloride is graded or hypersensitive, concentration levels of PEA HCl were selected in a stepwise manner based on preliminary experiments. Three levels of decreasing magnitude were selected at 5×10^{-8} , 5×10^{-9} , and 5×10^{-10} M. An intermediate step was added between the two lowest concentrations at 3×10^{-9} M. These molar concentrations represent the in-stream concentration and were achieved by adding PEA HCl to the stream channel (for specific amounts, see table 1) via a 400 mL delivery solution.

The sea lamprey tissue needed for tissue extract preparation for the synergy experiment was obtained from 10 donor animals. Use of experimental and tissue donor subjects was approved by the Algoma University Animal Care Committee (AUP No. 2014-II-001). Tissue extract was prepared using a modified procedure originally described by Di Rocco et al. (2014) and Imre et al. (2014). Donors were killed with a swift blow to the head before being decapitated. The remaining body was separated lengthwise into five approximately equal segments and 8 g of tissue cross sections were removed from one of the segments. This step was repeated for all ten donors (males: N = 5, mean total length = 455 ± 17 mm, mean wet mass = 194 ± 26 g, proportion sexually mature = 0%; females: N = 5, mean total length = 478 ± 37 mm, mean wet mass = 241 ± 72 g, proportion sexually mature = 0%) with tissue being removed once from all five segments for both sexes. The 80 g of tissue was homogenized in 750 mL of deionized water before being filtered through 100% cotton cheese cloth. Additional deionized water was added to the filtrate to bring the final volume to 1 L. The filtrate was stored at -10 ° C in 50 ml aliquots until further use. Sea lamprey extract (20 mL or 10 mL depending on treatment, table 1) was further diluted to 400 mL to create the delivery solution.

The concentrations of chemosensory cue used in the second experiment were selected to correspond with intermediate levels of threat. For PEA HCl, 3×10^{-9} M resulted in ~10% of sea lampreys avoiding the scented side of the artificial stream channel. Based on previous research (Imre et al. 2014) 20 mL of sea lamprey whole body extract (corresponding to approximately 1.6 g of tissue) delivered over 20 minutes caused an avoidance response of similar intensity. For the combination of cues, half of each cue was delivered (table 1).

Experimental protocol

To measure the behavioural response of sea lampreys to these chemosensory cues, experiments in two artificial stream channels were conducted at the Hammond Bay Biological Station in Millersburg, MI. For both experiments, ten groups of ten sea lampreys (five groups of males and five groups of females) were exposed to one of the treatments. Ten replicates were run each night with every treatment being delivered at least twice per night. This was to reduce potential differences in water temperature between treatments. The PEA HCl concentration experiment was conducted from July 16 to July 22, 2014 and the synergy experiment was conducted from July 31 to August 4, 2014. The artificial stream channels were parallel and had a water depth of 20 cm and a discharge of 0.01 m^3 /s. The groups of sea lampreys were confined to baskets at the head of the artificial stream channel for one hour to acclimate. After the acclimation period, the basket was gently slid down the artificial stream and overturned in the middle of the experimental arena. The experimental arena (figure 1) was a 6.23×1.84 m area with removable gates. The group of lamprey were given 30 minutes to acclimate to the arena before video cameras (model: Axis Q1604 Network Camera) directly above the stream channels began recording. Each recording was 30 minutes in length and split into three, 10 minute observation periods: the pre-stimulus period, the transition period, and the stimulus period. At

the beginning of the transition period, peristaltic pumps (model: MasterFlex L/S 7533-20) at the head of the experimental arena were turned on to supply the 400 mL delivery solution at 20 mL/min to half of the stream channel. The final 10 minutes of the recording was the 'stimulus period', when avoidance behaviour to the stimulus being presented was observed. Afterwards, the lampreys were removed from the arena to have their wet mass (to the nearest g), total length (to the nearest mm) sexual maturity (mature or immature) recorded while the next group of lamprey (which had been acclimating upstream for the previous hour) were released to acclimate in the experimental arena. All observations occurred between 21:00 h and 05:00 h. The experimental schedules were designed to ensure that groups of males and females were exposed to all treatments each day and they encountered treatments on both the left and right side of the artificial stream channel.

Data collection and statistical analysis

During the pre-stimulus and stimulus observation periods, the proportion of sea lampreys on the scented side of the stream channel was recorded every 30 seconds, resulting in 20 observations per observation period. The mean of these 20 observations was calculated for each replicate, resulting in the mean proportion on the scented side during the pre-stimulus and stimulus observation period. A line on the bottom of the stream channel (figure 1) was used to determine if individual sea lamprey were on the scented or unscented side. A sea lamprey was considered to be on the scented side if the head had crossed the line into the scented half of the stream channel. An ANCOVA was used to analyze the PEA HCl concentration experiment. The dependent variable was the proportion of sea lampreys on the scented side, sex was a fixed factor, and the log₁₀ transformed molar concentration of PEA HCl was included as a covariate. If there was no significant sex effect, the analysis was repeated as a linear regression. To include

the control treatment in the analysis, the linear regression was repeated with log_{10} (molar concentration of PEA + A) as the independent variable where A was a constant selected to match the slope of the regression without the control included. The synergy experiment was analyzed using a three-way ANOVA with proportion of sea lampreys on the scented side as the dependent variable and sex, sea lamprey extract, and PEA HCl as fixed factors. Each fixed factor had two levels (male/female for sex and present/absent for PEA HCl and sea lamprey extract). Interactions were excluded if they were not significant with the exception of PEA HCl × sea lamprey extract interaction.

For both experiments, a two-way ANOVA with sex and treatment as fixed factors was performed on the pre-stimulus observation period, to ensure there was no side preference prior to treatments being delivered. All proportion data was normally distributed (Shapiro-Wilk, P >0.05). One-way ANOVAs were used to verify that there was no difference in length, weight, sexual maturity or water temperature between treatments. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS Statistics 21.0 (IBM Corp. 2012). The significance level was set at $\alpha = 0.05$.

Results

PEA HCl concentration experiment:

Our experiment demonstrated that sea lampreys avoid the scented half of the stream channel in a graded manner as the molar concentration of PEA HCl increased (linear regression: $\log_{10}[\text{molar concentration of PEA HCl}] \times \text{proportion on scented side}, P < 0.001, R^2 = 0.30, y = -$ 0.083 $\log_{10} x - 0.333$). Including the control in the analysis by adding a constant to all values was also significant (linear regression: $\log_{10}[\text{molar concentration of PEA HCl} + 1 \times 10^{-10}] \times$ proportion on scented side, P < 0.001, $R^2 = 0.40$, $y = -0.080 \log_{10} [x + 1 \times 10^{-10}] - 0.312$) (figure 2).

There was no difference in the proportion of sea lampreys on the scented side during the prestimulus period (two-way ANOVA: treatment $F_{4,40} = 0.691$, P = 0.60, sex $F_{1,40} = 0.293$, P = 0.59, treatment × sex $F_{4,40} = 1.444$, P = 0.238). There was no significant difference in total length (ANOVA: $F_{4,45} = 0.397$, P = 0.81), wet mass (ANOVA: $F_{4,45} = 0.582$, P = 0.68), proportion sexually mature (ANOVA: $F_{4,45} = 2.550$, P = 0.052) or water temperature (ANOVA: $F_{4,45} = 0.349$, P = 0.84) between treatments. None of the female sea lampreys used in this experiment were sexually mature and 1.6% of males were spermiating.

Synergy experiment:

The sea lamprey extract caused significant avoidance of the scented side of the stream channel but sex, PEA HCl and the PEA HCl × sea lamprey extract interaction had no significant effect (three-way ANOVA: sea lamprey extract $F_{1,35} = 14.543$, P = 0.001, sex $F_{1,35} = 0.129$, P = 0.72, PEA HCl $F_{1,35} = 2.703$, P = 0.11, PEA HCl × sea lamprey extract $F_{1,35} = 0.351$, P = 0.56). Since the PEA HCl × sea lamprey extract interaction was not statistically significant, the synergy hypothesis is rejected as the cues appear to function additively (figure 3).

There was no difference in the proportion of sea lampreys on the scented side during the prestimulus period (two-way ANOVA: treatment $F_{3,32} = 0.449$, P = 0.72, sex $F_{1,32} = 0.124$, P = 0.73, treatment × sex $F_{3,32} = 0.529$, P = 0.67). There was no significant difference in total length (ANOVA: $F_{3,36} = 2.114$, P = 0.12), wet mass (ANOVA: $F_{3,36} = 0.295$, P = 0.83), proportion sexually mature (ANOVA: $F_{3,36} = 0.127$, P = 0.94) or water temperature (ANOVA: $F_{3,36} = 0.330$, P = 0.80) between treatments. None of the female sea lamprey used in this experiment were ovulating but 33.5% of males were spermiating.

Discussion

This is the first study to investigate the combined effects of multiple chemosensory cues on the avoidance behaviour of sea lampreys. Consistent with the threat-sensitivity hypothesis, where the overall intensity of antipredator behaviour is proportional to the level of threat detected, sea lampreys responded to increased concentrations of PEA HCl with increased area avoidance. By presenting sea lampreys with a combination of sea lamprey extract and PEA HCl, we found that the mixture did not induce an avoidance response significantly stronger than either cue alone. This finding does not support our prediction of a synergistic effect as the response to the combination of cues functions in an additive manner.

This study demonstrates sea lamprey avoid predator cues at a level proportional to the perceived risk detected as the strongest concentration of PEA HCl resulted in the strongest response and the weakest concentration of PEA HCl resulted in the weakest response. Previous work has shown sea lamprey also avoid conspecific extract in this manner (Bals and Wagner 2012). The graded response established in sea lamprey is parallel to the graded response of fathead minnows (*Pimephales promelas*) to predator cues (Kusch et al. 2004) and conspecific extract (Ferrari et al. 2005). The response of sea lampreys to mammalian predators in the wild can be predicted by comparing the amount of PEA released in urine to the response found in this experiment. Raccoons (*Procyon lotor*), a sea lamprey predator (Scott and Crossman 1998, Kircheis 2004) with relatively high concentrations of PEA in their urine (Ferrero et al. 2011), urinate approximately 28 mL per day (Lotze and Fleischman 1978). Raccoon urine contains 51.1 μ M of PEA (Ferrero et al. 2011), so a raccoon could release approximately 173 μ g of PEA in their urine at a given time. This is much less than the 2750 μ g of PEA HCl that was released over 20 minutes to achieve 3 × 10⁻⁹ M concentration and cause ~10% of sea lampreys to avoid the

scented side but 173.4 µg would provide enough PEA to elicit a comparable response in 477 L of water. A sea lamprey might detect and avoid the amount of PEA released in the urine of a raccoon but it would be a localized area over a relatively short period of time. It is also important to consider PEA is only one compound in urine. Female sea lampreys are attracted to 7α , 12α , 24-trihydroxy- 5α -cholan-3-one-24-sulfate (3kPZS), a pheromone released by spermiating male lamprey that directs females towards nests (Li et al. 2002), but actual washings from spermiating males were more effective at retaining females at nests (Johnson et al. 2009). This finding suggests that 3kPZS is only one of multiple compounds found in spermiating male washings used by sea lampreys to communicate chemically. As PEA is only one of a plethora of compounds released in the urine of mammalian predators, actual raccoon urine might cause a greater response than the PEA component alone.

Knowing that sea lamprey respond to PEA HCl at 3×10^{-9} M concentration allows for the comparison to known sea lamprey pheromones. Female sea lampreys are able to respond to species-specific 3kPZS at concentrations as low as 1×10^{-14} (Johnson et al. 2009). Migratory-phase sea lampreys can detect migratory pheromones released by larval lamprey at $\sim 10^{-12}$ M (Li et al. 1995). Both types of pheromones are bile acids so it is not surprising that sea lampreys respond to these species-specific pheromones at low concentrations because the olfactory system of migratory-phase sea lamprey is acutely sensitive to these bile acids (Li et al. 1995). However, a study investigating the chemosensory receptors of sea lampreys found 28 intact single-axon trace amine-associate receptors (Libants et al. 2009). Therefore, it is possible sea lampreys are detecting the PEA HCl, an amine, at concentrations lower than 3×10^{-9} M but are not responding because the lower concentrations are below the minimum behavioural response threshold. Previous studies have shown that fish can detect concentrations of alarm cue even though they

do not overtly respond them (Brown et al. 1996, Brown et al. 2004). To verify this is the case with sea lamprey in response to PEA HCl, a learning experiment similar to Brown et al. (2001) could be conducted where concentrations of PEA HCl below the response threshold are paired with conspecific tissue extract. Later, the same lampreys would be dosed with only the low concentrations of PEA HCl to see if they learn to associate the PEA HCl with a predation event and avoid the area.

The second half of this study investigated the effect of combining PEA HCl with damagereleased alarm cues. Since the interaction between sea lamprey extract and PEA HCl was not significant, we must conclude that the effect is additive and not synergistic. The sensory compensation hypothesis (Lima and Steury 2005) expects prey to use multiple sensory modes to detect and respond to prey. By presenting two complementary chemosensory cues of the same sensory modality, the overall uncertainty about the risk of predation in the environment is reduced. Sea lampreys exposed to both cues would make antipredator decisions knowing that a predator is in the area and a conspecific has been injured or killed. Non-consumptive effects of predation, such as area avoidance, are costly and could reduce the chance of reproducing. A synergistic response would indicate an over-reaction to the available chemosensory information at this critical migratory-phase of the sea lamprey life cycle but sea lampreys appear unwilling to expend time and energy avoiding predation at a level greater than they are detecting.

Although there does not appear to be an advantage in pairing these two chemosensory cues to deter migratory sea lampreys, they may still be useful for management purposes. Future research should investigate behavioural habituation to these cues. If sea lampreys stop responding to one cue after a certain amount of time, a second cue could be presented that will reinvigorate the avoidance behaviour. There is also the opportunity to re-evaluate chemosensory cue

synergy/additivity with sea lampreys during the day. During the day, sea lampreys are less sensitive to chemosensory cues (Di Rocco et al. 2014) but it might be possible to boost the effectiveness of these cues with passive visual cues.

Future work

To determine if chemosensory cues can prevent adult sea lampreys from migrating into spawning habitat in the wild, we plan on conducting a field experiment during the 2015 sea lamprey migration season. Passive integrated transponder (PIT) antenna arrays will be placed in the Ocqueoc River (Presque Isle County, Michigan) near the Silver Creek confluence (figure 4). Groups of 40 PIT tagged, female, migratory-phase sea lampreys will be released 500 m downstream of the conflux. Four different treatments will be applied to the Ocqueoc River and Silver Creek conflux (figure 1): 1) no chemosensory cues (control), 2) chemosensory cue released in the Ocqueoc River, 3) chemosensory cue released in Silver Creek, and 4) chemosensory cue released in both Ocqueoc River and Silver Creek. For each treatment, five groups of 40 sea lampreys will be released (200 individuals per treatment). The PIT tagged sea lampreys will be released at 2100 h, because sea lampreys are primarily nocturnal during their upstream migration (Applegate 1951), and monitored using the PIT tag antenna array until 0600h.

To determine the effectiveness of our treatments, we will compare the upstream movements of sea lampreys into Ocqueoc River and Silver Creek during the control (treatment 1) to the movements during treatments 2, 3 and 4. We hypothesize that sea lampreys will migrate up the stream containing the lowest perceived risk of predation (Silver Creek during treatment 2 and Ocqueoc River during treatment 3). Treatment 4 is unlikely to stop all upstream migration because these migratory sea lampreys will die whether they make it to suitable spawning grounds

or not. Therefor, they are likely to risk predation for the opportunity to reproduce. This treatment remains in the proposed line-up because if the treatment of both tributaries were able to stop all upstream migrants, it would be a tremendous boon to the integrated lamprey control strategy. Previous experiments have measured the response of groups of sea lampreys to chemosensory cues but with PIT tags, the proportion of adult sea lampreys that respond to or ignore relevant cues during their migration can be quantified. **Figure 1**. View from above a laboratory stream channel. The arrow indicates the direction of flow. The water passed through a flow conditioner (FC) made of PVC pipes to eliminate eddies. Experimental subjects were released from a basket in the center of the stream channel (B) at the beginning of the 30 min acclimation period. Stimuli were dispensed from pumps on the right (RP) or left (LP). Dashed line separates the sides used for data collection.



Figure 2. The proportion of sea lampreys on the scented side of the laboratory channel during the PEA HCl concentration experiment. The relationship was fit with a linear regression: $y = -0.080 \log_{10} (x + 1 \times 10^{-10}) - 0.312$ (n = 50, $R^2 = 0.40$, P < 0.001)



Figure 3. The mean (±1 standard error) proportion of sea lampreys on the scented side of the laboratory channel during the synergy experiment.



Figure 4. Proposed field test to determine if chemosensory cues can block adult sea lampreys from entering spawning streams. **1.** Deionized water applied in both streams; sea lamprey movement into streams expected to be proportional to discharge. **2.** Chemosensory cue applied to Ocqueoc River; all lampreys expected to migrate up the Silver Creek. **3.** Chemosensory cue applied to Silver Creek; all lampreys expected to enter Ocqueoc River. **4.** Chemosensory cue applied to Silver Creek and Ocqueoc River; all lampreys expected to not pass the confluence of Silver Creek and Ocqueoc River.



Table 1. Amount of chemosensory cue used in each treatment. The concentration was calculated

 based on 6000L of water passing through the scented half of the stream channel over the 20

 minute transition and stimulus period.

Treati	ment	Amount	Concentration
PEA HCl	5×10^{-8}	50.0 mg	$5.29 \times 10^{-8} \text{M}$
PEA HCl	5×10^{-9}	5.00 mg	$5.29 \times 10^{-9} \mathrm{M}$
PEA HCl	3×10^{-9}	2.75 mg	$2.91 \times 10^{-9} \mathrm{M}$
PEA HCl	5×10^{-10}	0.500 mg	$5.29 \times 10^{-10} \mathrm{M}$
Sea lamprey ext	ract (SLE)	20 ml	3.3 PPM
Combination	PEA HCl	1.38 mg	$1.45 \times 10^{-9} \mathrm{M}$
Comoniation	SLE	10 ml	1.7 PPM

References

- Alexander, J.E., Jr, and Covich, A.P. 1991. Predator avoidance by the freshwater snail *Physella virgata* in response to the crayfish *Procambarus simulans*. Oecologia **87**: 435–442. doi: 10.2307/1536436?ref=no-x-route:f1c4ac6a8b9e37a11b117825317f80ba.
- Applegate, V.C. 1950. Natural history of the sea lamprey, *Petromyzon marinus*, in Michigan.U.S. Fish Wildl. Serv. Sci. Rep. Fish. 55: 1–252.
- Bals, J.D., and Wagner, M. 2012. Behavioral responses of sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*) to a putative alarm cue derived from conspecific and heterospecific sources. Behaviour 149: 901–923. doi: 10.1163/1568539X-00003009.
- Barrett, S.C.H., and Kohn, J.R. 1991. Genetic and Evolutionary Consequences of Small
 Population Size on Plants: Implications for Conservation. *In* Genetics and conservation of
 rare plants. *Edited by* D.A. Falk and K.E. Holsinger. Oxford University Press, New York,
 N.Y. pp. 3–30.
- Berggren, H., Tinnert, J., and Forsman, A. 2012. Spatial sorting may explain evolutionary dynamics of wing polymorphism in pygmy grasshoppers. J. Evol. Biol. 25: 2126–2138. doi: 10.1111/j.1420-9101.2012.02592.x.
- Binder, T.R., and McDonald, D.G. 2007. Is there a role for vision in the behaviour of sea lampreys (*Petromyzon marinus*) during their upstream spawning migration? Can. J. Fish.
 Aquat. Sci. 64: 1403–1412. doi: 10.1139/f07-102.
- Brege, D.C., Davis, D.M., Genovese, J.H., McAuley, T.C., Stephens, B.E., and Westman, R.W. 2003. Factors responsible for the reduction in quantity of the lampricide, TFM, applied

annually in streams tributary to the Great Lakes from 1979 to 1999. J. Great Lakes Res. **29**: 500–509. doi: 10.1016/S0380-1330(03)70511-5.

- Brown, G.E. 2003. Learning about danger: chemical alarm cues and local risk assessment in prey fishes. Fish Fish 4: 227–234.
- Brown, G.E., Adrian, J.C., Jr, Patton, T., and Chivers, D.P. 2001. Fathead minnows learn to recognize predator odour when exposed to concentrations of artificial alarm pheromone below their behavioural-response threshold. Can. J. Zool. **79**: 2239–2245. doi: 10.1139/cjz-79-12-2239.
- Brown, G.E., Ferrari, M.C.O., and Chivers, D.P. 2011. Learning about danger: chemical alarm cues and threat-sensitive assessment of predation risk by fishes. *In* Fish cognition and behavior. *Edited by* C. Brown, K. Laland, and J. Krause. Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, U.K. pp. 56–80.
- Brown, G.E., Macnaughton, C.J., Elvidge, C.K., Ramnarine, I., and Godin, J.-G.J. 2009.
 Provenance and threat-sensitive predator avoidance patterns in wild-caught Trinidadian guppies. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 63: 699–706. doi: 10.1007/s00265-008-0703-4.
- Brown, G.E., and Magnavacca, G. 2003. Predator inspection behaviour in a characin fish: an interaction between chemical and visual information? Ethology **109**: 739–750.
- Brown, G.E., Poirier, J.-F., and James C Adrian, J. 2004. Assessment of local predation risk: the role of subthreshold concentrations of chemical alarm cues. Behav. Ecol. 15: 810–815.
 Oxford University Press. doi: 10.1093/beheco/arh084.
- Brown, G.E., and Smith, R.J.F. 1996. Foragin trade-offs in fathead minnos (*Pimephales promelas*, Osteichthyes, Cyprinidae): acquired predator recognition in juvenile rainbow trout

(Oncorhynchus mykiss): conditioning hatchery-reared fish to recognize chemical cues of a predator. Ethology **102**: 776–785. doi: 10.1139/f97-261.

- Bryan, M.B., Zalinkski, D., Filcek, K.B., Libants, S., Li, W., and Scribner, K.T. 2005. Patterns of invasion and colonization of the sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*) in North America as revealed by microsatellite genotypes. Mol. Ecol. 14: 3757–3773. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-294X.2005.02716.x.
- Chivers, D.P., Brown, G.E., and Ferrari, M.C.O. 2012. The evolution of alarm substances and disturbance cues in aquatic animals. *In* Chemical ecology in aquatic systems. *Edited by* C.
 Brönmark and L. Hansson. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK. pp. 127-139.
- Colautti, R.I., Bailey, S.A., van Overdijk, C.D.A., Amundsen, K., and MacIsaac, H.J. 2006.
 Characterised and Projected Costs of Nonindigenous Species in Canada. Biol. Invasions 8: 45–59. doi: 10.1007/s10530-005-0236-y.
- Cook, S.M., Khan, Z.R., and Pickett, J.A. 2007. The Use of Push-Pull Strategies in Integrated Pest Management. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 52: 375–400. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ento.52.110405.091407.
- Daniels, R.A. 2001. Untested assumptions: the role of canals in the dispersal of sea lamprey, alewife, and other fishes in the eastern United States. Environ. Biol. Fishes **60**: 309–329. doi: 10.2307/30126245?ref=no-x-route:5555828963d1880cff28a35d00bff85a.
- Di Rocco, R.T., Belanger, C.F., Imre, I., Brown, G.E., and Johnson, N.S. 2014. Daytime avoidance of chemosensory alarm cues by adult sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 71: 824–830. doi: 10.1139/cjfas-2013-0381.

- Dixson, D.L., Munday, P.L., and Jones, G.P. 2010. Ocean acidification disrupts the innate ability of fish to detect predator olfactory cues. Ecol Lett **13**: 68–75. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01400.x.
- Dymond, J.R. 1922. A provisional list of the fishes of Lake Erie. Pub. Ont. Fish. Res. Lab. 4: 57–73. University of Toronto Studies.
- Duckworth, R.A., and Badyaev, A.V. 2007. Coupling of dispersal and aggression facilitates the rapid range expansion of a passerine bird. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **104**: 15017–15022. National Acad Sciences. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0706174104.
- Emde, G., Mogdans, J., and Kapoor, B.G. 2004. The Senses of Fish: Adaptations for the Reception of Natural Stimuli. Springer Netherlands. doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-1060-3.
- Ferrari, M.C.O., Trowell, J.J., Brown, G.E., and Chivers, D.P. 2005. The role of learning in the development of threat-sensitive predator avoidance by fathead minnows. Anim. Behav. 70: 777–784. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2005.01.009.
- Ferrari, M.C.O., Vavrek, M.A., Elvidge, C.K., Fridman, B., Chivers, D.P., and Brown, G.E. 2008. Sensory complementation and the acquisition of predator recognition by salmonid fishes. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 63: 113–121. doi: 10.2307/40645499?ref=no-xroute:339cd3481f908267b8306dacf74c1bdc.
- Ferrari, M.C.O., Wisenden, B.D., and Chivers, D.P. 2010. Chemical ecology of predator-prey interactions in aquatic ecosystems: a review and prospectus. Can. J. Zool. 88: 698–724. doi: 10.1139/Z10-029.
- Ferrero, D.M., Lemon, J.K., Fluegge, D., Pashkovski, S.L., Korzan, W.J., Datta, S.R., Spehr, M., Fendt, M., and Liberles, S.D. 2011. Detection and avoidance of a carnivore odor by prey.

Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 108: 11235–11240. National Acad Sciences. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1103317108/-/DCSupplemental.

- Fraser, D.F., Gilliam, J.F., Daley, M.J., Le, A.N., and Skalski, G.T. 2001. Explaining leptokurtic movement distributions: intrapopulation variation in boldness and exploration. Am. Nat.
 158: 124–135. doi: 10.1086/321307.
- Great Lakes Fishery Commission. 2011. Strategic vision of the Great Lakes Fishery Commission 2011-2020. Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Ann Arbor, MI.
- Helfman, G.S. 1989. Threat-sensitive predator avoidance in damselfish-trumpetfish interactions. Behav Ecol Sociobiol **24**: 47–58.
- Helfman, G.S., and Winkelman, D.L. 1997. Threat sensitivity in bicolor damselfish: effects of sociality and body size. Ethology 103: 369–383.
- Holmes, T.H., and McCormick, M.I. 2011. Response across a gradient: behavioural reactions of newly settled fish to predation cues. Anim. Behav. 81: 543–550. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2010.11.019.
- Holway, D., and Suarez, A.V. 1999. Animal behavior: an essential component of invasion biology. Trends Ecol. Evol. 14: 328–330. doi: 10.1016/S0169-5347(99)01636-5.
- IBM Corp. 2012. IBM SPSS Statistics for Macintosh, Version 21.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.
- Imre, I., Brown, G.E., Bergstedt, R.A., and McDonald, R.B. 2010. Use of chemosensory cues as repellents for sea lamprey: Potential directions for population management. J. Great Lakes Res. 36: 790–793. doi: 10.1016/j.jglr.2010.07.004.
- Imre, I., Di Rocco, R.T., Belanger, C.F., Brown, G.E., and Johnson, N.S. 2014. The behavioural response of adult *Petromyzon marinus* to damage-released alarm and predator cues. J. Fish Biol. 84: 1490–1502. doi: 10.1111/jfb.12374.

- Jacobsen, H.P., and Stabell, O.B. 2004. Antipredator behaviour mediated by chemical cues: the role of conspecific alarm signalling and predator labelling in the avoidance response of a marine gastropod. Oikos **104**: 43–50. doi: 10.1111/j.0030-1299.2004.12369.x.
- Jeschke, J.M., and Strayer, D.L. 2005. Invasion success of vertebrates in Europe and North America. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **102**: 7198–7202. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0501271102.
- Johnson, N.S., Siefkes, M.J., Wagner, M., Dawson, H., Wang, H., Steeves, T., Twohey, M.B., and Li, W. 2013. A synthesized mating pheromone component increases adult sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*) trap capture in management scenarios. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 70: 1101–1108. doi: 10.1139/cjfas-2013-0080.
- Johnson, N.S., Yun, S.-S., Thompson, H.T., Brant, C.O., Li, W., and Meinwald, J. 2009. A Synthesized Pheromone Induces Upstream Movement in Female Sea Lamprey and Summons Them into Traps. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **106**: 1021–1026. National Academy of Sciences. doi: 10.2307/40254676?ref=no-xroute:608a3c787fea8dec985af2f4b364272e.
- Kats, L.B., and Dill, L.M. 1998. The scent of death: chemosensory assessment of predation risk by prey animals. Ecoscience **5**: 361–394.
- Kircheis, F.W. 2004. Sea lamprey *Petromyzon marinus* Linnaeus 1758. Environmental consultant report for the United States Fish and Wildlife Service.
- Kusch, R.C., Mirza, R.S., and Chivers, D.P. 2004. Making sense of predator scents: investigating the sophistication of predator assessment abilities of fathead minnows. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 55: 551–555. doi: 10.1007/s00265-003-0743-8.

- Li, W., Scott, A.P., Siefkes, M.J., Yan, H., Liu, Q., Yun, S.-S., and Gage, D.A. 2002. Bile acid secreted by male sea lamprey that acts as a sex pheromone. Science 296: 138–141. American Association for the Advancement of Science. doi: 10.1126/science.1067797.
- Li, W., Sorensen, P.W., and Gallaher, D.D. 1995. The olfactory system of migratory adult sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus) is specifically and acutely sensitive to unique bile acids released by conspecific larvae. J. Gen. Physiol. **105**: 569–587.
- Libants, S., Carr, K., Wu, H., Teeter, J.H., Chung-Davidson, Y.-W., Zhang, Z., Wilkerson, C., and Li, W. 2009. The sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus genome reveals the early origin of several chemosensory receptor families in the vertebrate lineage. BMC Evol Biol **9**: 180. doi: 10.1186/1471-2148-9-180.
- Lima, S.L., and Steury, T.D. 2005. Perception of predation risk: the foundation of nonlethal predator-prey interactions. *In* Ecology of predator-prey interactions. *Edited by* P. Barbosa and I. Castellanos. Oxford University Press, Oxford. pp166-188
- Lotze, J.H., and Fleischman, A.I. 1978. The raccoon (*Procyon lotor*) on St. Catherines Island, Georgia. 1, Biochemical parameters of urine and blood serum. Am. Mus. Novit. **2644**: 1–5.
- Mack, R.N., Simberloff, D., Lonsdale, W.M., Evans, H., Clout, M., and Bazzaz, F.A. 2000.
 Biotic invasions: causes, epidemiology, global consequences, and control. Ecol. Appl. 10: 689–710. doi: 10.2307/2641039?ref=search-gateway:db62ef530fbeac5615d2be3cd0e10c03.
- Magurran, A.E., and Irving, P.W. 1996. Is there a fish alarm pheromone? A wild study and critique. Proc. Biol. Sci. **263**: 1551–1556.
- McCormick, M.I., and Manassa, R. 2007. Predation risk assessment by olfactory and visual cues in a coral reef fish. Coral Reefs **27**: 105–113. Springer-Verlag. doi: 10.1007/s00338-007-0296-9.

- McLaughlin, R.L., Hallett, A., Pratt, T.C., O'Connor, L.M., and McDonald, D.G. 2007. Research to guide use of barriers, traps, and fishways to control sea lamprey. J. Great Lakes Res. **33**: 7–19.
- Mikheev, V.N., Wanzenbock, J., and Pasternak, A.F. 2006. Effects of predator-induced visual and olfactory cues on 0+ perch (*Perca fluviatilis* L.) foraging behaviour. Ecol. Freshw. Fish 15: 111–117. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0633.2006.00140.x.
- O'Riain, M.J., Jarvis, J.U.M., and Faulkes, C.G. 1996. A dispersive morph in the naked mole-rat. Nature **380**: 619–621. doi: 10.1038/380619a0.
- Pietrzakowski, R., Imre, I., and Brown, G.E. 2013. The behavioural response of migratory sea lampreys (*Petromyzon marinus*) to potential damage-released larval and migratory chemical alarm cues. J. Great Lakes Res. **39**: 234–238. doi: 10.1016/j.jglr.2013.03.008.
- Preisser, E.L., Bolnick, D.I., and Benard, M.E. 2005. Scared to death? The effects of intimidation and consumption in predator-prey interactions. Ecology 86: 501–509. doi: 10.2307/3450969?ref=no-x-route:eccca90a25fa5a8186469c5f507b283c.
- Sakai, A.K., Allendorf, F.W., Holt, J.S., Lodge, D.M., Molofsky, J., With, K.A., Baughman, S., Cabin, R.J., Cohen, J.E., Ellstrand, N.C., McCauley, D.E., O'Neil, P., Parker, I.M., Thompson, J.N., and Weller, S.G. 2001. The population biology of invasive species. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 32: 305–332. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.32.081501.114037.
- Schoeppner, N.M., and Relyea, R.A. 2005. Damage, digestion, and defence: the roles of alarm cues and kairomones for inducing prey defences. Ecol Lett **8**: 505–512. Blackwell Science Ltd. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00744.x.
- Scott, W. B. & Crossman, E. J. 1998. Freshwater Fishes of Canada. Oakville, ON: Galt House Publications Ltd.

- Siefkes, M.J., Bergstedt, R.A., Twohey, M.B., and Li, W. 2003. Chemosterilization of male sea lampreys (*Petromyzon marinus*) does not affect sex pheromone release. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 60: 23–31. doi: 10.1139/f02-169.
- Sih, A., Bell, A., and Johnson, J.C. 2004. Behavioral syndromes: an ecological and evolutionary overview. Trends Ecol. Evol. **19**: 372–378. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2004.04.009.
- Smith, B.R., and Tibbles, J.J. 1980. Sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*) in Lakes Huron,
 Michigan, and Superior: history of invasion and control, 1936-78. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.
 37: 1780–1801. doi: 10.1139/f80-222.
- Smith, R.J.F. 1992. Alarm signals in fishes. Rev Fish Biol Fisher 2: 33–63.
- Sol, D., Timmermans, S., and Lefebvre, L. 2002. Behavioural flexibility and invasion success in birds. Anim. Behav. 63: 495–502. doi: 10.1006/anbe.2001.1953.
- Sorensen, P. W., & Hanson, L. H. 1993. Luring lampreys: assessing the feasibility of using odorants to control sea lamprey in the Great Lakes. Project completion report to the Great Lakes Fishery Commission, Ann Arbor, Mich.
- Wagner, M., Stroud, E.M., Meckley, T.D., and Kraft, C. 2011. A deathly odor suggests a new sustainable tool for controlling a costly invasive species. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 68: 1157– 1160. doi: 10.1139/f2011-072.
- Waldman, J.R., Grunwald, C., Roy, N.K., and Wirgin, I.I. 2004. Mitochondrial DNA analysis indicates sea lampreys are indigenous to Lake Ontario. T. Am. Fish. Soc. 133: 950–960. doi: 10.1577/T03-104.1.
- Ward, A.J.W., and Mehner, T. 2010. Multimodal mixed messages: the use of multiple cues allows greater accuracy in social recognition and predator detection decisions in the

mosquitofish, Gambusia holbrooki. Behav. Ecol. **21**: 1315–1320. Oxford University Press. doi: 10.1093/beheco/arq152.

Williamson, M.H. 1999. Invasions. Ecography 22: 5-12.

- Wisenden, B.D. 2003. Chemically Mediated Strategies to Counter Predation. *In* Sensory
 Processing in Aquatic Environments. *Edited by* S.P. Collin and N.J. Marshall. Springer New
 York, New York, NY. pp. 236–251. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-22628-6_12.
- Wisenden, B.D. and Chivers, D.P. 2006. The role of public chemical information in antipredator behaviour. *In* Fish chemoreception. *Edited by* F. Ladich, S.P. Colins, P. Moller, and B.G. Kapoor. Science Publishers, Enfield, N.H. pp 259–278.